FILED 8/29/2017 9:43 AM Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington

NO:					

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II: NO. 48233-9-II

MICHAEL COHEN and JULIE McBRIDE,

Defendants, Appellants, and Petitioners,

VS.

WILLIAM NEWCOMER,

Plaintiff, Appellee, and Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stellman Keehnel, WSBA No. 9309 Andrew R. Escobar, WSBA No. 42793 DLA PIPER LLP (US) 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 7000 Seattle, Washington 98104

Tel: 206.839.4800 Fax: 206.849.4801

Email: stellman.keehnel@dlapiper.com Email: andrew.escobar@dlapiper.com

Attorneys for Defendants/Appellants/Petitioners

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	A.	Relevant Factual Background	2		
	B.	Procedural Background	7		
V.	ARG	UMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.	8		
	A.	The Opinion Conflicts With Precedent Because It Applies an Actual-Notice Standard, Not an Inquiry-Notice Standard, to WSSA's Statute of Limitations	8		
	B.	The Opinion Also Conflicts With Court of Appeals Precedent By Not Ruling That Newcomer Was on Inquiry Notice as a Matter of Law by October 2009.	12		
	C.	Review Should Be Accepted to Clarify the Legal Effect of a Claimant Having Disposed of and Ceasing to Own Its Securities and How the Value at Disposition Should Be Measured	16		
VI.	CON	CLUSION	20		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
Cases
Bull v. Chandler, No. C-86-5710 MHP, 1992 WL 103686 (N.D. Cal. March 12, 1992)
Burns v. McClinton, 135 Wn. App. 285, 143 P.3d 630 (2006), as amended (Feb. 13, 2008)
Calvi v. Prudential Sec., Inc., 861 F. Supp. 69 (C.D. Cal. 1994)
DeBruyne v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc'y, 920 F.2d 457 (7th Cir. 1990)
Douglass v. Stanger, 101 Wn. App. 243, 2 P.3d 998 (2000)
In re Estates of Hibbard, 118 Wn.2d 737, 826 P.2d 690 (1992)
Garretson v. Red-Co, Inc., 9 Wn. App. 923, 516 P.2d 1039 (1973)
Helenius v. Chelius, 131 Wn. App. 421, 120 P.3d 954 (2005)
Lewis v. Coleman, 194 Wash. 674, 79 P.2d 633 (1938)
Mayer v. City of Seattle, 102 Wn. App. 66, 10 P.3d 408 (2000)
Monetary Mgmt. Grp. of St. Louis, Inc. v. Kidder Peabody & Co., Inc., 604 F. Supp. 764 (E.D. Mo. 1985)

New England Health Care Emps. Pension Fund v. Ernst & Young, LLP,
336 F.3d 495 (6th Cir. 2003)
Robert L. Kroenlein Trust ex rel. Alden v. Kirchhefer, 764 F.3d 1268 (10th Cir. 2014)
Stuart v. Coldwell Banker Comm. Group, Inc., 109 Wn.2d 406, 745 P.2d 1284 (1987)
<i>Tregenza v. Great Am. Commc'ns Co.</i> , 12 F.3d 717 (7th Cir. 1993)
Statutes
RCW 21.20.0108
RCW 21.20.430
Section 12(2) of the Securities Act of 1933
Other Authorities
RAP 13.4 passim

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Defendants Michael Cohen and Julie McBride ("Defendants") ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decisions terminating review, designated in Part II.

II. THE DECISIONS DESIGNATED FOR REVIEW

Defendants request the Supreme Court to review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals, entered May 16, 2017 (Appendix at pages A-001–025) (the "Opinion"), and the order issued by Division II of the Court of Appeals, entered on July 28, 2017, which denied Defendants' motion for reconsideration (Appendix at page A-026).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Should the Supreme Court accept review because the Opinion used a standard of actual notice, instead of inquiry notice, to trigger the limitations period, in conflict with the plain language of RCW 21.20.430(4)(b) and decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals?
- B. Should the Supreme Court accept review because the Opinion conflicts with prior decisions of the Court of Appeals by not ruling that the limitation period began to run, as a matter of law, where a plaintiff (a) received documentation that contradicts an earlier oral

misrepresentation and (b) had sufficient knowledge to raise concerns about accounting irregularities and demand an audit?

- C. Should the Supreme Court accept review to address an issue of substantial public interest, and one of first impression in Washington, regarding whether, under RCW 21.20.430(1), as a matter of law, an investor "disposed of" a security and ceased to "own" it upon withdrawing as a member of a Washington limited liability company and/or transferring his membership units to another entity?
- D. Should the Supreme Court accept review because the Opinion—by not ruling that the "value" of a security, when an investor "disposed of" it without a market sale, is its then-actual value, not what the investor received—conflicts with prior decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

A. Relevant Factual Background

In 2005, plaintiff William Newcomer purchased membership units in Apex Apartments LLC ("Apex I"), a company formed to build and operate two luxury apartment buildings in Tacoma. Ex. 1 at 1; RP 308–09. Prior to investing, Newcomer received an Offering Introduction

-2-

¹ The pertinent background for this petition is set forth in this section. A more detailed summary of this litigation and the record is set forth in Appellants' Opening Brief ("AOB") at 6–20.

("OI") that described the proposed investment in detail. Ex. 1 at 1; RP 308–09. The OI explained that the buildings' construction would proceed in two phases ("Phase I" and "Phase II") and contained two pro formas detailing the anticipated costs and revenues for each phase. Ex. 1 at 3, 6–7. Newcomer and Cohen, along with a third investor, each agreed to invest \$800,000 in exchange for respective 30.33 percent membership interests in Apex I. RP 316. Three other investors each agreed to invest \$100,000 in exchange for 3 percent membership interests in Apex I. *Id*.

The OI explained that C&M Construction Management LLC ("C&M"), which Cohen owned, would "provide all management and accounting functions for this project" and be paid "10% of the hard costs of construction for these services" as a developer's fee. Ex. 1 at 6. The OI further disclosed that a portion of Cohen's \$800,000 investment in Apex I would consist of "\$350,000 . . . in the form of deferred equity[,]" which would "be deducted from the monthly loan draws for construction management and general requirements until fully contributed." Ex. 1 at 4, 6. In other words, Cohen would satisfy a portion of his initial capital contribution for the Apex I membership units by contributing \$350,000 of the developer fees he would earn in Phase I. RP 315–16, 321.

After receiving the OI, Newcomer struck out by hand certain provisions with which he did not agree. RP 319. He did not, however,

strike through the deferred-equity provision. Ex. 1 at 4–5. Nonetheless, he testified at trial, in 2015, that he called Cohen in 2005 and objected to the deferred-equity provision (*see* RP 316) and that Cohen allegedly "said that he would exclude this from the final contract" and not use deferred equity from developer fees to partially fund his investment. RP 319.

By May 5, 2005, Newcomer had signed the Apex I operating agreement and paid his \$800,000 contribution. Exs. 83A, 83B; RP 326–27. Newcomer had also signed construction loan documentation acknowledging—directly contrary to his recollection of the OI-related conversation—that the borrower's (Apex I) equity requirements would be satisfied with up to \$750,000 in deferred equity in the form of developer fees to be earned by C&M. Exs. 4, 109 (Exs. A, B). Shortly thereafter, Cohen directly paid \$450,000, and Apex I booked a journal entry in Cohen's name for \$350,000 in deferred equity to be credited against C&M's forthcoming developer fees, thereby completing Cohen's \$800,000 investment. Exs. 40, 73; *see also* Ex. 2 at 4 (Schedule 3); RP 323–24, 998–99.²

During the Phase I construction, Apex I took out loans to manage its cash flow. *See* Ex. 77, RP 1108. This included a \$360,000 short-term

-

² Prior to that journal entry, Apex I had executed a \$400,000 "contract for services" with C&M for the remaining balance of the \$750,000 developer's fee that it had agreed to cap in lieu of the \$810,000 developer's fee initially projected in the OI. Exs. 1, 3; RP 1007.

zero-interest loan in 2005 from an entity affiliated with Cohen, which was fully repaid a few weeks later. *See* Exs. 6, 8; RP 677, 695, 699, 1109.

In March 2008, the development's ownership was restructured: new entities were formed to separately own each building, and Apex I ceased to have an ownership interest in either building. Exs. 10, 67; RP 993–96. Ownership of the Phase I building and underlying real estate was divided and transferred by separate real estate deeds to two newly formed tenant-in-common (TIC) entities: (1) a 30.33% interest in the Phase I property was deeded to Newcomer Apex I TIC LLC, which is wholly owned by Newcomer individually; and (2) a 69.67% interest in the Phase I property was deeded to Apex Apartments I TIC, LLC, which is owned by Apex I's other original members. Exs. 10–13, 67; RP 424–25, 427, 924, 995–96. As part of this restructuring, Newcomer formally withdrew as a member of Apex I, thereby entirely ending his ownership interest in that entity. Ex. 11.

With respect to the Phase II property, title to the second building and its underlying real estate was deeded to another newly created entity, Apex Apartments II, LLC ("Apex II"). Exs. 10, 14 (§ 8.1, Schedule 1, Ex. A). Newcomer initially acquired membership units in Apex II in his own name, but in 2010 he transferred those securities to an entity called the 2009 Newcomer Family Trust, LLC, which is owned by two trusts. CP

2120. At that point, Newcomer had disposed of all the at-issue securities that form the basis of his claim in this litigation.

After the Great Recession hit, the project struggled. RP 1043–45. Newcomer became "concerned" that additional contributions were needed from investors and that he would not, as he expected, receive a capital distribution. Ex. 74; RP 362–63. At the same time, Newcomer learned of certain interest-bearing loans that Apex I had received from an entity affiliated with Cohen and testified that "for the whole next year, we [*i.e,* Newcomer and Cohen] had many—we had meetings and many conversations on that." RP 621. In addition, Newcomer "constantly expressed [his] concerns about the accounting." RP 363; *see also* Ex. 74.

On May 15, 2009, Newcomer received financial statements, one of which included a breakdown of C&M's fees. *See* Ex. 17. On October 12, 2009, Newcomer received an accounting for the interest-bearing loans that the Cohen-affiliated entity had made to Apex I, some of which had been repaid or had their balance applied as additional capital contributions by Cohen to Apex I.³ Exs. 74, 77; RP 621–22. Two days after receiving this loan information, Newcomer shot an email to Cohen stating that he was "shocked" to discover the loans and demanding an audit because he had

-

³ The \$360,000 short-term interest-free loan that had been repaid, however, had not been included because, as the Apex I bookkeeper testified, the document had been prepared for the purpose of calculating loan interest, and the \$360,000 loan did not accrue any interest. RP 671–72, 677.

"asked for monthly statements and h[as] not received them," that "there are just too many figures floating around," and that he "can't make heads or tails out of" the project's finances. Ex. 74. Newcomer did not follow up on his audit demand, however, until late 2013, when he retained counsel and inspected the project's records. *See, e.g.*, RP 332, 472–73.

B. <u>Procedural Background</u>

On January 14, 2014—more than four years after he fired off his October 2009 email demanding an audit—Newcomer filed suit against Cohen based on the documentation he received during his late-2013 records inspection. CP 1–19. His complaint included a Washington State Securities Act ("WSSA") claim, RCW 21.20.430. Cohen unsuccessfully moved for summary judgment against the WSSA claim on the basis that it was barred by the three-year statute of limitations in RCW 21.20.430(4)(b) (CP 253–54, 716–17). The case proceeded to a jury trial. Newcomer pursued three bases for his WSSA claim: (1) a misrepresentation that Cohen paid his initial \$800,000 contribution in Apex I without using \$350,000 in deferred equity from upcoming developer's fees; (2) a misrepresentation regarding the existence of the \$400,000 "contract for services" with C&M for the remaining balance of the \$750,000 developer's fee that it had agreed to cap for Phase I; and (3) a misrepresentation regarding the existence of the \$360,000 short-term zerointerest loan. After Newcomer presented his case in chief, Cohen moved for a directed verdict on statute-of-limitations and damages grounds. CP 1280. The Superior Court denied Cohen's motion. CP 1580.

At the trial's conclusion, the Superior Court instructed the jury, over Cohen's objection, on two different ways to measure damages for the WSSA claim. CP 1654; *see* CP 1629, 1631. The jury returned a special verdict for Newcomer, awarding him the total purchase price of his securities in Apex I and Apex II—\$2,309,552—without any adjustment for the securities' value when Newcomer disposed of them, as required under WSSA. CP 1660. The Superior Court entered judgment, including prejudgment interest and attorneys' fees, in the amount of \$4,060,987.46. CP 2294. Cohen moved for reconsideration, judgment as a matter of law, and a new trial; that motion was also denied. CP 1808, 2309.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment and denied Cohen's motion to reconsider on statute-of-limitations grounds and to correct material misstatements of the record in the Opinion. A-001–025; A-026.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Opinion Conflicts With Precedent Because It
Applies an Actual-Notice Standard, Not an InquiryNotice Standard, to WSSA's Statute of Limitations

A plaintiff may not pursue a claim under RCW 21.20.430 "more than three years after a violation of the provisions of RCW 21.20.010,

either was discovered by such person or would have been discovered by him or her in the exercise of reasonable care." (Emphasis added.) The Court of Appeals erred because its briefly stated analysis applies an "actual notice" standard, not an inquiry notice standard, despite RCW 21.20.430(4)(b)'s discovery rule. Op. 16–17. While the Opinion discusses Newcomer's testimony regarding his actual knowledge, the Court of Appeals ignored Cohen's clear and concise arguments identifying that Newcomer was placed on inquiry notice based on what he admittedly knew. Specifically, the Opinion affirmed the jury's verdict by focusing only on Newcomer's allegation that he did not actually discover that Cohen had used deferred equity to partially fund his initial contribution to Apex I until after Newcomer hired an attorney in late 2013, and that he did not actually discover the 2006 interest-free loan and \$400,000 "construction services" document until 2014.

The Opinion errs by not considering whether, as a matter of law, Newcomer was on "notice of facts sufficient to prompt a person of average prudence to inquire further" or whether Newcomer met his burden to show that "with exercise of reasonable care [he] could not have discovered[] the facts giving rise to his claims." *That* is the argument Cohen presented on appeal. *See* AOB 28–41; Appellants' Reply Brief ("ARB") 6–18; Motion for Reconsideration ("MR") 6–15; *see also* RCW

21.20.430(4)(b); *Mayer v. City of Seattle*, 102 Wn. App. 66, 76, 10 P.3d 408 (2000) (a plaintiff "is deemed to have notice of all facts that reasonable inquiry *would* disclose" after he or she "has notice of facts sufficient to prompt a person of average prudence to inquire into the presence of an injury.") (emphasis added).

The Opinion's actual-notice analysis, in disregard of WSSA's explicit inquiry-notice rule, conflicts with this Court's decision in *Stuart v*. *Coldwell Banker Comm. Group, Inc.*, 109 Wn.2d 406, 415, 745 P.2d 1284 (1987), which underscored "that a cause of action accrues when a plaintiff discovers, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence, should have discovered, the *elements* of the cause of action, and not when the plaintiff realized that they had a legally cognizable injury." (Emphasis in original.) The Opinion's actual-notice analysis also conflicts with *Douglass v*. *Stanger*, 101 Wn. App. 243, 2 P.3d 998 (2000), which held that a plaintiff's claim under WSSA was time-barred based on an inquiry-notice standard. Review should therefore be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). As Cohen highlighted in his Motion for Reconsideration (MR 6–9), the Opinion simply applies the wrong test for triggering the limitations

period, contrary to both governing decisional authority and the plain language of RCW 21.20.430(4)(b).⁴

Review should also be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because a important statute of limitations reflects "practical considerations," including "that stale claims may be spurious and generally rely on untrustworthy evidence." In re Estates of Hibbard, 118 Wn.2d 737, 745, 826 P.2d 690 (1992) ("[C]ompelling one to answer a stale claim is in itself a substantial wrong."). Consequently, "society benefits when it can be assured that a time comes when one is freed from the threat of litigation." *Id.* This Court therefore "emphasize[s] the exercise of due diligence by the injured party." *Id.* at 746. Newcomer's WSSA claim hinged on his memory of a conversation allegedly held nine years before this action's filing, a conversation that Newcomer admitted he could not clearly remember at trial. RP 500-01. Newcomer's cited testimony is a textbook example of the policy behind a statute of limitations and the public interest in enforcing it.⁵

.

⁴ The Court of Appeals' failure to address the inquiry-notice analysis set forth by Cohen throughout his appellate briefing mirrors the actual-notice focus promoted by Newcomer in his Respondent's Brief at RB 15, 21, 23–27.

⁵ As Cohen explained in the Court of Appeals briefing (AOB 36–37; ARB 13–15), Newcomer's delay in filing this securities action also reflects a misuse of WSSA as "investment insurance"—*i.e.*, holding back on raising a concern in the hope that an investment will pay off and, if it does not, using litigation as a means to recover the investment. *See Tregenza v. Great Am. Commc'ns Co.*, 12 F.3d 717, 722 (7th Cir. 1993). The Opinion's failure to apply the inquiry-notice rule undercuts this policy.

B. The Opinion Also Conflicts With Court of Appeals Precedent By Not Ruling That Newcomer Was on Inquiry Notice as a Matter of Law by October 2009

Newcomer's own testimony and the October 2009 email establish that, as a matter of law, he was on inquiry notice regarding each alleged WSSA violation he raised at trial. The Court of Appeals should have reversed the Superior Court's denial of Cohen's motions for directed verdict and judgment as a matter of law.

Newcomer's testimony established that, *after* he was allegedly told in 2005 that Cohen had made his initial contribution without using deferred equity (AOB 9; *see also* p.4, *infra*), Newcomer received and signed off on loan documentation acknowledging that the project lender agreed that up to \$750,000 in non-cash equity in the project could be in the form of developer's fees to be earned by C&M. Exs. 4, 109. Those disclosures directly conflict with what Newcomer claimed had earlier been represented to him, as Newcomer acknowledged at trial and Cohen explained to the Court of Appeals. *See* RP 528; ARB 28–30. The clear contradiction with Cohen's earlier alleged oral statement regarding no non-cash contribution would have made a reasonable person suspicious about whether the non-cash equity that Cohen had allegedly agreed not to apply toward his initial Apex I contribution was in fact being applied to the project. AOB 31–33. When a fact is represented to a plaintiff orally,

followed documentation that directly contradicts that oral representation, the plaintiff is placed on inquiry notice as a matter of law, and a securities claim based on that representation must be dismissed if, as here, the statute of limitations has run. See, e.g., DeBruyne v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc'y, 920 F.2d 457, 466 (7th Cir. 1990) (summary judgment affirmed where plaintiff received a document making him "suspicious" and the "statute of limitations did not await [his] leisurely discovery of the full details of the alleged scheme").6 In short, the Opinion's rejection of the inquiry-notice test matters, because Newcomer was plainly on inquiry notice far earlier than three years before he sued. See AOB 31–32, 38–39; ARB 6-7; MR 9-10.

Moreover, by October 2009, Newcomer had—as proven by his email—(1) complained about loans from Cohen to the project that Newcomer had not previously known about; (2) identified what he believed to be accounting irregularities; and (3) demanded an audit. Ex. 74. These undisputed facts establish as a matter of law that Newcomer

-

⁶ See also Calvi v. Prudential Sec., Inc., 861 F. Supp. 69, 72 (C.D. Cal. 1994) (action dismissed "because the warnings in [the prospectus] documents directly conflicted with her broker's alleged representations," which meant "plaintiff was on inquiry notice"); Bull v. Chandler, No. C-86-5710 MHP, 1992 WL 103686, at *5 (N.D. Cal. March 12, 1992) (granting summary judgment on securities fraud claim because "plaintiff had constructive notice of fraud as early as the date of his first investment" because "[t]he statements in the offering materials were in direct contradiction" to defendant's earlier oral statements); Helenius v. Chelius, 131 Wn. App. 421, 448, 120 P.3d 954 (2005) ("Washington courts often look to federal court decisions interpreting analogous provisions of federal securities law to inform their interpretation of the WSSA").

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