FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/27/2017 1:57 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Court of Appeals Cause No. 48233-9-II

NO: 94916-6

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### WILLIAM NEWCOMER, Respondent

v.

#### MICHAEL COHEN and JULIE MCBRIDE, Appellants

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973

phil@tal-fitzlaw.com

Smith Alling, P.S.

Douglas V. Alling, WSBA #1896

doug@smithalling.com

Russell A. Knight, WSBA #40614

rknight@smithalling.com

2775 Harbor Ave. SW Third Floor, Suite C

Seattle, Washington 98126 Telephone: (206) 574-6661 Facsimile: (206) 575-1397 1501 Dock Street

II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	A.	Overview		
	B.	Restatement of relevant facts	1	
	C.	Procedural history	2	
III.	ARGUMENT			
	A.	Cohen's argument that the Court of Appeals' Opinion "applies an actual notice standard, not an inquiry notice standard" to the Statute of Limitations is frivolous. The Opinion clearly		
		applies the inquiry notice standard	3	
	В.	Cohen's argument that Newcomer was on inquiry notice was rejected by the trial judge and jury. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that sufficient evidence was presented to the jury to support its		
		verdict	7	
	C.	The damages the jury awarded are consistent with the WSSA regardless of whether Newcomer still owned the securities or had disposed of them at the		
		time of trial	10	
	D.	WSSA and RAP 18.1 provide for an award of attorney's fees in answering this petition	13	
IV.	CONC	CLUSION		

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## **CASES**

Alexander v. Sanford, 181 Wn. App. 135, 169, 325 P.3d 341 (2014)				
Bunch v. King Cty. Dep't of Youth Servs., 155 Wn.2d 165, 179, 116 P.3d 381, 389 (2005)				
Douglass v. Stanger, 101 Wn. App. 243, 2 P.3d 998 (2000)				
Garretson v. Red-Co., Inc., 9 Wn. App. 923, 516 P.2d 1039 (1973)				
Hipple v. McFadden, 161 Wn. App. 550, 561, 255 P.3d 730, 735 (2011)				
Indust. Indem. Co. of the Nw., Inc. v. Kallevig, 114 Wn.2d 907, 915-16, 792 P.2d 520 (1990)				
Ives v. Ramsden, 142 Wn. App. 369, 385, 174 P.3d 1231 (2008)				
Kohfeld v. United Pac. Ins. Co., 85 Wn. App. 34, 42, 931 P.2d 911 (1997)				
Nichols v. Peterson NW, Inc., 197 Wn. App. 491, 500, 389 P.3d 617 (2016)				
Thompson v. Lennox, 151 Wn. App. 479, 484, 212 P.3d 597 (2009)				
Winbun v. Moore, 143 Wn.2d 206, 219, 18 P.3d 576, 582 (2001)				
<u>STATUTES</u>				
RCW 21.20.430				

# **RULES**

RAP 13.4	
RAP 13.4(b)	
RAP 18.1	
RAP 18.1(j)	

#### I. <u>IDENTITY OF ANSWERING PARTY</u>

Respondent William Newcomer.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Overview.

Cohen's petition for review is a repetition of the factual arguments made to and rejected by the jury and then repeated to and rejected by the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals' unpublished Opinion properly concludes that sufficient evidence was presented to the jury to support its verdict.

Cohen's arguments haven't improved with age. Cohen must now demonstrate a basis for review under RAP 13.4, which he cannot do. The arguments on questions of fact about the statute of limitations and the jury's calculation of damages have been resolved by the jury, and the Court of Appeals found sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict.

Newcomer respectfully asks this Court deny the petition for review.

#### **B.** Restatement of relevant facts.

Cohen's petition for review contains a lengthy recitation of facts that repeats the facts he argued to the jury and Court of Appeals. Many of the issues he characterizes as undisputed, were in fact disputed factual questions the jury resolved.

Rather than repeat the facts here, Newcomer adopts the Facts section of the Court of Appeals' Opinion, which accurately describes the disputed facts presented to the jury. Op. pp. 2-14.

#### C. Procedural history.

The arguments Cohen makes in his petition for review have been repeatedly rejected.

On August 25, 2015, the trial court denied Cohen's motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of Newcomer's Washington State Securities Act ("WSSA") claim. CP 716.

On September 15, 2015, at the close of Newcomer's case in chief, the trial court denied Cohen's motion for a directed verdict seeking dismissal of Newcomer's WSSA claim. CP 1579.

On September 21, 2015, the jury returned its verdict specifically finding that Newcomer brought this action within the relevant statute of limitations and finding that Cohen violated the WSSA in connection with all four sales of securities from Cohen to Newcomer. The jury awarded damages to Newcomer consistent with the evidence and the WSSA. CP 1659.

On October 9, 2015, the trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law and judgment on the verdict in favor of Newcomer. CP 1796.

On November 6, 2015, the trial court denied Cohen's motion for reconsideration, motion for judgment as a matter of law, and motion for a new trial. CP 2300.

On May 16, 2017, Division II of the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished Opinion affirming the trial court and judgment.

No party sought publication of the Opinion.

On July 28, 2017, the Court of Appeals denied Cohen's motion for reconsideration.

#### III. ARGUMENT

A. Cohen's argument that the Court of Appeals' Opinion "applies an actual notice standard, not an inquiry notice standard" to the Statute of Limitations is frivolous. The Opinion clearly applies the inquiry notice standard.

Cohen's petition for review argues that the Court of Appeals' Opinion "errs by not considering whether, as a matter of law, Newcomer was on 'notice of facts sufficient to prompt a person of average prudence to inquire further" to trigger the statute of limitation. PFR p. 9 (quotation in original). Cohen argues that the Opinion "applies an actual notice standard, not an inquiry notice standard." *Id*.

Such a reading of the Opinion is objectively incorrect and frivolous. First, citing to Jury Instruction No. 14, the Opinion sets out the

undisputed inquiry notice standard to trigger the statute of limitations. It states:

The determination of when a plaintiff discovered <u>or</u> through the exercise of due diligence should have <u>discovered</u> the basis for a cause of action is a factual question for the jury. We review factual determinations under a sufficiency of the evidence standard, that is, evidence to persuade a fair minded person of the truth of the declared premise.

At trial, the court instructed the jury on the statute of limitations for WSSA claims:

If one has notice of facts <u>sufficient to prompt a person of average prudence to inquire further</u>, the person is deemed to have notice of all facts which reasonable inquiry would disclose . . .

Plaintiff has the burden of proof to show that he did not discover, or with exercise of reasonable care could not have discovered, the facts giving rise to his claims three years before January 13, 2014.

Op. pp. 15-16 (emphasis added, internal citations omitted).

The Opinion objectively sets out the inquiry notice standard. In doing so, the Court of Appeals cites to this court's opinion in *Winbun v*. *Moore*, 143 Wn.2d 206, 219, 18 P.3d 576, 582 (2001). *Winbun* makes clear that the "determination of when a plaintiff discovered or through the exercise of due diligence should have discovered the basis for a cause of action is a factual question for the jury." *Winbun*, 143 Wn.2d at 213. The role of an appellate court is simply to determine whether sufficient

evidence was presented to the jury that, if believed, supports the jury's verdict. *Id.* Contrary to Cohen's bold assertion, the Opinion in no way suggests an actual notice standard applies to the statute of limitations for a WSSA claim.

Next, the Opinion correctly analyzed the facts presented to the jury to determine whether sufficient evidence exists to support the jury's verdict under the inquiry notice standard. The Opinion recites the evidence that Cohen misrepresented his capital contribution up through the fall of 2013 – just a few months before the complaint was filed.

The jury heard that Newcomer repeatedly inquired of Cohen who repeatedly failed to disclose that his initial \$800,000 capital contribution was not fully made in cash. Cohen continued to misrepresent the character of his initial capital contribution as late as the fall of 2013, after Newcomer hired an attorney to investigate.

#### Op. p. 16.

The Opinion directly addresses the evidence presented to the jury that showed when Newcomer did inquire further, Cohen provided him with incomplete and misleading information. The Opinion provides, "In 2009, Newcomer received an accounting document of Point Ruston loans, but it excluded the interest-free loan at issue. Cohen failed to disclose that information until after litigation commenced." Op. pp. 16-17.

At trial, the undisputed evidence – presented by Cohen's own bookkeeper – showed that the accounting Cohen provided to Newcomer in 2009 was objectively false. RP 681. Cohen didn't provide the correct information until he was forced to do so in discovery in 2014, after the lawsuit was filed. *Id.* Therefore, when Newcomer did inquire further, Cohen continued to lie to Newcomer about his capital contribution.

With respect to the question of when Newcomer discovered or could have discovered Cohen's misrepresentations and omissions, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that "[t]he fact that Cohen presented contrary evidence does not mean that insufficient evidence supports the jury's verdict." Op. p. 17. The Opinion properly notes, "[w]e do not review a jury's credibility determinations. *Kohfeld v. United Pac. Ins. Co.*, 85 Wn. App. 34, 42, 931 P.2d 911 (1997)." Op. n. 17 (citation in original).

Because the Court of Appeals accurately set out the inquiry notice standard and conducted an analysis of the facts under it, this Court should decline Cohen's petition for review on the basis of Cohen's claim that the Court of Appeals applied an actual notice test.

B. Cohen's argument that Newcomer was on inquiry notice was rejected by the trial judge and jury. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that sufficient evidence was presented to the jury to support its verdict.

Cohen's second argument that "the Opinion also conflicts with Court of Appeals precedent by not ruling that Newcomer was on inquiry notice as a matter of law by October 2009" is not a basis for review by this Court. PFR p. 12.

Whether Newcomer exercised diligence to discover Cohen's misrepresentations and omissions is a question of fact. "Under the discovery rule, the statute of limitation for [security fraud] actions begins only when the aggrieved party discovers, or should have discovered by due diligence, the fact of fraud or securities fraud and sustains some actual damage as a result." *Ives v. Ramsden*, 142 Wn. App. 369, 385, 174 P.3d 1231 (2008) (italics removed). The question of whether the defrauded plaintiff exercised "due diligence is ordinarily a question of fact." *Douglass v. Stanger*, 101 Wn. App. 243, 256, 2 P.3d 998 (2000); *see also Nichols v. Peterson NW, Inc.*, 197 Wn. App. 491, 500, 389 P.3d 617 (2016) ("[t]he diligence element of [the discovery rule] raises a question of fact"); *Alexander v. Sanford*, 181 Wn. App. 135, 169, 325 P.3d 341 (2014) ("Whether the discovery rule applies to toll the statute of limitations is a question of fact...") (quotes omitted); *Hipple v. McFadden*,

161 Wn. App. 550, 561, 255 P.3d 730, 735 (2011) ("The application of the discovery rule is generally a factual question.")

Courts "strongly presume the jury's verdict is correct." *Bunch v. King Cty. Dep't of Youth Servs.*, 155 Wn.2d 165, 179, 116 P.3d 381, 389 (2005). Still, Newcomer responds to Cohen's argument on disputed facts here in an abundance of caution.

Cohen's argument that Ex. 74, an October 14, 2009 email from Newcomer to Cohen, demonstrated that Newcomer was on inquiry notice is unpersuasive. The email does not concern the core misrepresentations Cohen made: 1) failing to invest \$350,000 in cash as agreed, 2) secretly borrowing \$360,000 to attempt to cover up the misrepresentation about the initial capital contribution, and 3) failing to disclose the \$400,000 founder's fee. Instead, the October 2009 email addresses interest rates Cohen was charging, which was not an issue submitted to the jury. To the extent that the email is a request for information, it is undisputed that Cohen did not voluntary produce any information.

The jury's finding that Newcomer was not on inquiry notice is also supported by the evidence that when Newcomer did ask for additional information, Cohen continued to lie to him. A plaintiff's lack of knowledge of the fraud supporting a claim will be excused where the

plaintiff can demonstrate an impediment to his investigation. *Douglass v. Stanger*, 101 Wn. App. 243, 256, 2 P.3d 998, 1005 (2000).

Here, when Newcomer attempted to inquire about the facts, Cohen continued to lie to him. In May 2009, Cohen provided Newcomer with a false accounting which again misrepresented Cohen's initial capital contribution, and hid the secret loan Cohen used to cover it up. RP 681. In October 2009, When Newcomer asked for an audit, Cohen failed to comply.

As late as the fall of 2013 – just a few months before the lawsuit was filed, Cohen again lied to Newcomer about his initial capital contribution. RP 588.

The inquiry before the Court of Appeals was whether the trial record contains evidence that when viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, was sufficient to sustain the jury's verdict. *Indust. Indem. Co. of the Nw., Inc. v. Kallevig*, 114 Wn.2d 907, 915-16, 792 P.2d 520 (1990). The Court of Appeals properly concluded that Newcomer presented sufficient evidence. The fact that Cohen disagrees with that analysis cannot form the basis for review by this Court.

# C. The damages the jury awarded are consistent with the WSSA regardless of whether Newcomer still owned the securities or had disposed of them at the time of trial.

Cohen's request that this Court accept review to clarify the legal effect of disposing of securities is based on his incorrect statement that the issue of ownership of securities was an undisputed fact at trial.

Under RCW 21.20.430, if a defrauded investor still owns the offending securities, he may sue for the consideration he paid for the securities, plus interest at eight percent per annum and attorney's fees. If the defrauded investor had disposed of the securities, he may sue for consideration he paid for the securities less the actual price he received when he sold or disposed of the securities, plus interest at eight percent per annum and attorney's fees. *See Garretson v. Red-Co., Inc.*, 9 Wn. App. 923, 929, 516 P.2d 1039 (1973).

At trial, the court instructed the jury:

If you find for Plaintiff on the claims under the Washington State Securities Act, then you must determine the amount of damages, if any. If the Plaintiff still owns the security, the damages are the amount Plaintiff paid in connection with the purchase of the security. Plaintiff is not required to show that the untrue statement or omission actually caused them to incur losses.

If the Plaintiff no longer owns the security, the amount of damages are the amount for which the security was initially purchased less the value of the security when Plaintiff disposed of it. CP at 1654 (Instr. 15)<sup>1</sup>;

The Court of Appeals' Opinion correctly notes that "Cohen does not argue that the instruction is an incorrect statement of the law." Op. p. 21. Instead, Cohen argued that the trial court's instruction to the jury should have only included the measure of damages where the investor no longer owns the security.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion concludes that the trial court did not err in giving the instruction because the instruction is a correct statement of law, was supported by the evidence and allowed each party to argue their theory of the case. Op. pp. 21-22. Evidence presented at trial showed a Newcomer owned a portion of the securities at the time of trial and had disposed of others. In giving the complete statutory measure of damages, the trial court noted:

I am including the delineation between if you own it, as opposed to if you don't own it. I think it is consistent with the statute, and I think it's consistent with the practical effect of what we have here. We've got securities that he does own and then securities that he has disposed of. So, I think it's important, for clarification, to indicate that there's a difference between paragraphs 2 and 3 [of Instruction No. 15].

RP 1186 (emphasis added).

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The jury was not asked to calculate interest at eight percent (8%). By stipulation of the parties, the court awarded the proper interest upon presentation of judgment on the verdict.

The damages the jury awarded are consistent with the WSSA, regardless of whether he still owned the securities. For each sale of securities, the jury awarded Newcomer the consideration he paid for the security. Therefore, if he still owned the security, the damages were correct.

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